**RECEIVED**

**OCT 28 2022**

**WASHINGTON STATE  
SUPREME COURT**

No. 101411-2

Division I Cause No. 56043-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

---

CHAD WAYNE HURN, Petitioner

v.

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, et al, Respondents

---

PETITION FOR REVIEW

---

Chad Wayne Hurn, pro se  
PO Box 37  
Littlerock, WA 98556

A. INTRODUCTION

This case presents issues of constitutional magnitude that has the potential to impact a vast number of people in our state. Prisoners and Appellants are people nonetheless, and prison walls do not form an iron curtain separating those people from their constitutional rights. The very first enactment of the Washington State Constitution, article I, section I, is the declaration that governments are established to protect and maintain individual rights. Furthermore, the attorney-client privilege is the oldest of the privileges for confidential communications known to the common law.

The Court of Appeals decision allows prison guards, and essentially any state actor, to read privileged attorney-client communications page-by-page and line-by-line, and subsequently seize any documents that happen to contain a name other than the intended recipient's in a document, and then take the documents outside the presence of the recipient to conduct research on them, ultimately censoring privileged attorney-client communications.

This practice of interference and censorship eviscerates the First and Sixth Amendment protections that attorney-client communications are given, and furthermore impedes appellants' access to the court by denying them the necessary evidence needed to appeal or collaterally attack their conviction.

Believing this to be in error, petitioner respectfully requests review and relief from this Court.

**B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Petitioner Chad Wayne Hurn respectfully asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision which affirmed the trial court's granting of summary judgment in this case, as designated in part C of this petition. Mr. Hurn is proceeding pro se in this matter.

**C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

The opinion at issue was filed on May 10, 2022. A copy of the unpublished decision is attached hereto as Appendix A. Reconsideration was requested. The ruling on that motion is attached hereto as Appendix B. This Petition for Review is timely brought.

D. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the Sixth Amendment and interpretive case law permit prison guards to read and censor attorney-client communications?

2. Does the Sixth Amendment and Article I, Section 22 and interpretive case law protect an Appellant's right to communicate with counsel and obtain evidence without governmental interference?

3. Did the Court of Appeals fail to conduct a de novo review of the record and construe the facts in the light most favorable to Mr. Hurn as the non-moving party?

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Chad Hurn, a prisoner appealing his criminal convictions, had his legal mail interfered with by prison guards on four occasions. Defendants assert they followed Department of Corrections ("DOC") policy when reading and censoring Mr. Hurn's legal mail. Mr. Hurn felt otherwise, filing a lawsuit in Thurston County Superior Court alleging violations of his First and Sixth Amendment rights as well as tort claims.

Defendants moved for summary judgment submitting declarations of defendants and counsel in support. Mr. Hurn responded, submitting a declaration with voluminous supporting exhibits as well as a motion for judicial notice for the court to consider amicus briefs from the ACLU and the Yale Ethics Bureau discussing the harm that the interference with attorney-client communications has on attorneys. Defendants submitted a reply brief, and the court granted summary judgment at a hearing held without argument, or providing any analysis.

The Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment, and in doing so largely ignored the evidence Mr. Hurn put before the court, despite the applicable standard of review requiring that evidence be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-moving party. The evidence before the court showed that:

On four separate occasions Mr. Hurn had his legal mail interfered with by a prison guard. The prison guard opened the legal mail in Mr. Hurn's presence and commenced to reading documents page-by-page and line-by-line, and took several pages outside Mr. Hurn's presence.

When Mr. Hurn asked the prison guard if she had a warrant authorizing her to read his legal mail, she responded by stating she didn't need one, and when another inmate asked her to stop reading his own legal mail, the guard told him to shut up or she would just take it back to the mailroom and read it at her leisure.

The prison guard took Mr. Hurn's legal mail, which consisted of his attorney-client files and portions of his own trial transcripts, outside his presence, and conducted research on them using a DOC OMNI database.<sup>1</sup> Then, a guard scanned Mr. Hurn's legal documents into a computer and disseminated them electronically to then prison captain Danial Davis, who then allegedly conducted his own research on Mr. Hurn's attorney-client files to determine if any name in a document happened to be someone who was incarcerated. Davis then sent electronic copies of Hurn's attorney-client mail to then Correctional Program Manager Roy Gonzalez. Defendants refused to identify the number of pages taken from Mr. Hurn's legal mail in some instances.

---

1. OMNI is an acronym for Offender Management Network Information



F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Petitioner respectfully requests review of this matter to clarify whether it is lawful for prison guards to read and censor attorney-client communications.

**1. Review Is Proper Because The Decision By The Court Of Appeals Conflicts With Both State And Federal Constitutions As Well As Interpretive Case Law And Allows For Widespread Abuse Of The Attorney-Client Privilege.**

Prison officials may institute procedures for inspecting "legal mail," e.g., mail sent between attorneys and prisoners. See Wolff v. McDonnell, 418 U.S. 539, 576-77, 94 S.Ct. 2693, 41 L.Ed.2d 935 (1974). But "prisoners have a protected First Amendment interest in having properly marked legal mail opened [and inspected] only in their presence." Hayes v. Idaho Corr. Center, 849 F.3d 1204, 1211 (9th Cir. 2017). "Legal mail" may not be read or copied without the prisoner's permission. See Casey v. Lewis, 43 F.3d 1261, 1269 (9th Cir. 1994), rev'd on other grounds, 518 U.S. 343 (1996).

The Ninth Circuit has explained that there is a clear difference between inspecting legal mail for contraband and reading it under Wolff,

418 U.S. at 577, such that prison officials may not circumvent this prohibition by reading an inmate's legal mail in his presence because this practice does not ameliorate the chilling effect on the inmate's Sixth Amendment rights. See Nordstrom v. Ryan, 762 F.3d 903, 911 (9th Cir. 2014) (Nordstrom I). In addition to the developed common law, the American Bar Association Standards on Treatment of Prisoners prohibit prisons from examining legal mail outside a prisoner's presence.<sup>2</sup>

The Sixth Amendment is applicable to the states via the Fourteenth Amendment. Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 342-43, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963). "A criminal defendant's ability to communicate candidly and confidentially with his lawyer is essential to his defense." Nordstrom I, 762 F.3d at 910. "One threat to the effective assistance of counsel posed by government interception of attorney-client

---

<sup>21</sup> Standard 23-9.4(c)(i) provides that:

- (i) For letters or other documents sent or passed between counsel and prisoner:
  - A. correctional authorities should not read the letter or documents, and should search only for physical contraband; and
  - B. correctional authorities should conduct such a search only in the presence of the prisoner to or from whom the letter or document is addressed.

communications lies in the inhibition of free exchanges between defendant and counsel." Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545, 554 n. 4, 97 S.Ct. 837, 51 L.Ed.2d 30 (1977). "[T]he Constitution does not permit...[the] reading [of] attorney-client correspondence." Nordstrom I, at 910-11.

In Nordstrom, a guard read a prisoner's legal mail for about 15 seconds, and when asked to stop, the officer stated he was "authorized to search legal mail for contraband as well as scan the content of the material to ensure it is legal subject matter." 762 F.3d at 906. The Court held that prison officials violate a prisoner's rights when they read a single piece of legal mail, even without a showing of prejudice. Id. at 910.

In Nordstrom II, the Ninth Circuit reiterated its holding in Nordstrom I, that prison officials may inspect, but not read, a prisoner's legal mail in his presence. And, at most, an inspection should be for 'suspicious features' that can be identified **without reading the words on a page**; i.e., 'maps of the prison yard, the times

of guards' shift changes, and the like.'"

Nordstrom v. Ryan, 856 F.3d 1265, 1272 (9th Cir. 2017) (Nordstrom II) (citing Nordstrom I, at 906) (emphasis added).

The evidence before the trial court included the declaration of Mr. Hurn, in which he detailed each instance of the prison guards reading his legal mail in his presence, which was directly observed, as well as affidavits of two other witnesses who also observed prison guards reading and censoring Mr. Hurn's legal mail. Defendants evidence consisted of the prison guard stating she was "inspecting" Hurn's legal mail and not reading it. However, it is an undisputed fact that the prison guard read names within documents in Mr. Hurn's legal mail. Another undisputed fact is that the guard took Mr. Hurn's legal mail outside his presence and conducted research using OMNI, which necessitated typing information into a query, which cannot be done absent first "reading" it in Mr. Hurn's legal mail.

In Nordstrom I, the court held that the plaintiff adequately stated a Sixth Amendment claim where he alleged that: (1) prison officials

had a policy and practice of reading his legal mail; (2) prison officials claimed the right to do so; and (3) the policy violated his ability to confidentially communicate with his attorney. 762 F.3d at 911.

In this case, Mr. Hurn asserted similar claims as Nordstrom: (1) there is a policy by which prison staff read and censored his legal communications between him and his attorney; (2) defendants claim entitlement to "inspect" "screen" or "scan" Mr. Hurn's legal mail; and (3) the scanning/screening/inspecting policy or practice violated his attorney-client privilege. "It is obvious ... that a policy or practice permitting prison staff to not just inspect for contraband, but to read an inmate's legal mail is highly likely to inhibit the sort of candid communications that the right to counsel and the attorney-client privilege are meant to protect." Id. at 910.

More than half a century ago, the Washington State Supreme Court ruled that, when State actors pry into a defendant's privileged attorney-client communications, prejudice must be presumed. State v. Cory, 62 Wn.2d 371, 378, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963).

This Court reaffirmed this ruling in State v. Pena-Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d 808, 818-20, 318 P.3d 257 (2014) and, in light of a State actor's eavesdropping on privileged attorney-client communications, imposed a presumption of prejudice. A distinction between misconduct by law enforcement and misconduct by jail guards is not recognized by our Supreme Court or Division One Court of Appeals. State v. Irby, 3 Wn.App.2d 247, 415 P.3d 611 (2018).

Under our State's jurisprudence, in order to determine whether a deprivation of a prisoner's Sixth Amendment right occurred - and whether a remedy must issue, the court engages in a four-part inquiry:

1. Did a State actor participate in the infringing conduct alleged by the defendant?
2. If so, did the State actor(s) infringe upon a Sixth Amendment right of the defendant?
3. If so, was there prejudice to the defendant? That is, did the State fail to overcome the presumption of prejudice arising from the infringement by not proving the absence of prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt?
4. If so, what is the appropriate remedy to select and apply, considering the totality of the circumstances present, including the degree of prejudice to the defendant's right to a fair trial and the degree of nefariousness of the conduct by the State actor(s)?

Irby, 3 Wn.App.2d at 252-53.

While Cory, Pena-Fuentes, and Irby dealt with criminal defendants in a pre-trial setting, the test is instructive as Mr. Hurn was a post-trial appellant. Because, article I, section 22 provides the right to trial and the right to appeal in all cases, this Court should take this opportunity and extend this same test, or craft a new one to protect appellants' rights on direct appeal and habeas proceedings in order to comply with constitutional guarantees.

The trial court did not engage in any such inquiry in the present case, and under the applicable standard of review the evidence should have necessitated a fact finding in order to overcome the presumption of prejudice. However, under Nordstrom, Mr. Hurn need only show a chilling of his attorney-client communications, which he arguably did.

The appellate court erred in affirming summary judgment in this case because the defendants did not show that the interference with Mr. Hurn's attorney-client files and trial transcripts did not at a minimum chill his Sixth Amendment rights.

Accordingly, the issues raised in this Petition for Review involve issues of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court.

G. CONCLUSION

The Court should hold that legal mail shall not be read or interfered with by state actors, and that prisoners and appellants have a right to their client files and related discovery in order to challenge their convictions without interference, and that Mr. Hurn has produced evidence sufficient that a reasonable person could rule in his favor. Mr. Hurn respectfully requests that this Court grant review and reverse the lower courts' decision to allow state actors to read and censor attorney-client communication.