FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/7/2022 1:47 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101411-2

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### CHAD WAYNE HURN,

Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, et al.,

Respondents.

# DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KATHERINE J. FABER, WSBA #49726 Assistant Attorney General Corrections Division P.O. Box 40116 Olympia, WA 98504-0116 (360) 586-1445

#

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Chad Hurn filed a civil lawsuit against Department of Corrections employees for rejecting four pieces of Hurn's incoming legal mail, each of which contained unauthorized information about other inmates. The Court of Appeals affirmed the superior court's dismissal of Hurn's Sixth and First Amendment claims on the grounds that Hurn had not shown the requisite prejudice or injury to prevail on those claims. Hurn now seeks review, asserting the Court of Appeals decision was in violation of federal and state law protecting the attorney-client privilege. This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals decision was correct and was aligned with Sixth and First Amendment case law.

#### II. STATEMENT OF ISSUE

1. Whether the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed dismissal of Hurn's Sixth and First Amendment claims because Hurn did not show substantial prejudice or actual

injury to his criminal appeals as a result of DOC staff rejecting four pieces of his legal mail?

#### III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

In 2015 and 2016 while in the Department's custody, Hurn received four pieces of legal mail which contain information about another inmate. Petition (Pet.) Appendix A, at 3-4. Department policy prohibited incoming mail that contained information about another inmate without specific approval from the facility superintendent, in order to minimize the threat of another inmate using printed documents to coerce or manipulate against that other inmate. Pet. App. A, at 2-3.

Each of Hurn's four pieces of legal mail were rejected, and Hurn appealed each rejection to the superintendent and correctional program manager. Each time, the rejections were upheld. Pet. App. A, at 3-4. Hurn then filed suit against numerous DOC officials for 42 U.S.C. § 1983 civil rights violations as well as negligence and trespass to chattels. Pet. App. A, at 4.

The superior court granted defendants' motion for summary judgment in full, and Hurn appealed. Pet. App. A, at 4. The Court of Appeals affirmed, noting that Hurn failed to show a violation of his Sixth Amendment right to counsel by providing no evidence that DOC staff's actions hindered him in any effort to pursue a legal claim. Pet. App. A, at 7-8. Hurn's First and Fourteenth Amendment claims similarly failed, and Hurn's request for injunctive relief was moot. Pet. App. A, at 6, 9-10. Hurn now files this petition for review in which he challenges the Court of Appeals' ruling on his Sixth and First Amendment claims. He does not seek review of his retaliation, due process, or tort claims.

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Hurn's petition does not satisfy any of the criteria for review in RAP 13.4(b). Here, the Court of Appeals held that Hurn's Sixth and First Amendment claims failed. *See* Pet. App. 1, at 7-9. This decision does not conflict with any precedent, nor does it involve a significant question of constitutional law or an

issue of substantial public interest. In light of this, the Court should decline review. RAP 13.4(b).

In petitioning for review, Hurn mainly claims that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts generally with "both state and federal constitutions as well as interpretive case law." Petition for Review, at 6. In other words, Hurn believes the Court of Appeals misapplied federal and state constitutional law to his claims. This is not enough to warrant review, and is also incorrect.

A Sixth Amendment claim in a civil action requires a showing of substantial prejudice. *Nordstrom v. Ryan*, 762 F.3d 903, 910 (9th Cir. 2014) ("When the government deliberately interferes with the confidential relationship between a criminal defendant and defense counsel, that interference violates the Sixth Amendment right to counsel if it substantially prejudices the criminal defendant."); *United States v. Hernandez*, 937 F.2d 1490, 1493 (9th Cir. 1991) ("[G]overnment invasion of [the Sixth Amendment] privilege . . . is not sufficient by itself to cause

a Sixth Amendment violation. The defendant must have been *prejudiced* by such actions."). Similarly, to prevail on his First Amendment claim, Hurn must show an actual injury related to contemplated or existing litigation. *Lewis v. Casey*, 518 U.S. 343, 346, 116 S. Ct. 2174, 135 L. Ed. 2d 606 (1996).

Here, Hurn did not provide any evidence of how he was prejudiced or actually injured in pursuing any attack on his sentence. The record instead showed several instances of appeals which Hurn brought, including one in which Hurn was successful in obtaining resentencing. *See* Pet. App. A, at 8. Without any showing of injury or prejudice, the Court of Appeals was correct to affirm that Hurn's Sixth and First Amendment claims failed, and this Court need not accept review of that correct finding.

Hurn continues to insist that he need only allege a chilling of his Sixth Amendment rights to prevail on his Sixth Amendment claim. This is an incorrect reading of *Nordstrom*, in which the Ninth Circuit reviewed the dismissal of the plaintiff's complaint at the pre-answer screening stage and held that to state

a claim and survive screening or a motion to dismiss, a plaintiff need only allege a chilling effect. *Nordstrom*, 762 F.3d at 907-08, 911. However, to prevail on such a claim, which would include Hurn's claim surviving summary judgment, a plaintiff must show that government interference in an attorney-client relationship "substantially prejudice[ed] the criminal defendant." *Id.* at 910. Hurn made no such showing of any prejudice, let alone substantial prejudice. *See* Pet. App. A, at 8-9.

Hurn also puts forward the standard for showing a Sixth Amendment violation in a criminal case and asks this Court to accept review so that it can extend this standard to civil actions like his. Petition for Review, at 10-12 (citing *State v. Irby*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 247, 259, 415 P.3d 611 (2018); *State v. Pena-Fuentes*, 179 Wn.2d 808, 818-20, 318 P.3d 257 (2014); *State v. Cory*, 62 Wn.2d 371, 377-78, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963)). By doing so, Hurn admits that such a standard does not apply to his case and could only apply through this Court's expansion of that standard. *See* Petition for Review, at 12 ("[T]his Court should take this

opportunity and extend this same test, or craft a new one"). However, he does not provide a persuasive reason why this Court should expand the standard beyond the criminal context. The burden in a civil case is on the plaintiff, who can ultimately obtain monetary damages or injunctive relief if successful. A standard from a criminal case such as *Irby*, where the burden is on the State to prove criminal violations, is not instructive for resolving a civil claim such as Hurn's.

In asking for the criminal standard to be expanded to his case, Hurn claims article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution provides "the right to trial and the right to appeal in all cases," and accordingly this Court should apply the test from *Irby* to his civil action. Petition for Review, at 12. But article I, section 22 outlines the rights of person involved in criminal prosecutions and has no direct applicability to Hurn's civil rights lawsuit. *See* WASH. CONST. art. I, § 22; *In re Det. of Leck*, 180 Wn. App. 492, 503, 334 P.3d 1109 (2014).

Because Hurn abjectly failed to show injury or prejudice as a result of DOC staff rejecting his legal mail in question, his Sixth and First Amendment claims fail as a matter of law. The Court of Appeals recognized this, affirming dismissal of Hurn's claims in a way that is consistent with existing constitutional case law. This Court need not disrupt this ruling, and Hurn's continued disagreement with the ruling does not present a persuasive basis for this Court to accept review.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals decision in this case is sound and not in conflict with any case law. Hurn has not shown that the criteria for accepting review under RAP 13.4(b) are satisfied. This Court should deny review.

///

///

///

///

///

#### VI. CERTIFICATION

This document contains 1,327 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.